The Government Camp and Camp Reserve

Local Heritage Overlay HO 668 ‘Camp Reserve and Environs’
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Tour 3 hours
1. Former Court House, Prisoner Tree, 7 Goldsmith Cres
2. Camp House, 5 Yandell St. 
3. Old Military Quarters, 4 Camp St
4. Sheriff Colles’ House, (1 Camp St, entrance off Yandell St)
5. Camp Reserve 
6. ‘Broadoaks’ Burke’s Cottage, 31 Gingell St
7. Mr Howe’s Survey Tree, Gaulton St/ Yandell St,
8. Sheriff’s Bridge trusses, underneath viewing
9. Ah Coy’s Cottage, 5 Bowden St
10. Farnsworth St Cluster – Castle House, Old Powder Magazine, Powder Magazine’s Keeper’s Cottage
11. Old Gaol, Bowden St
12. Railway Station to Christ Church, Kennedy St,
13. Return to Court House, end of tour.
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Establishment of the Camp
Governor La Trobe, Commissioners Powlett, Wright and Bull
Extraordinary alluvial gold finds at Golden Point in September 1851 sparked the legendary rush to what became the Mount Alexander goldfields. 
With the discovery of gold, Commissioner Powlett, under Governor La Trobe, laid out distinct areas for the goldfields administration. The main Government Camp was fleetingly at Golden Point – before being moved only weeks later by Powlett to the confluence of Barkers, Forest and Campbells creeks - quite likely for the superior and permanent water source. Small government camps were activated and dismantled with the ebb and flow of rushes following the gold finds, but the Castlemaine Camp was a stable permanent camp that oversaw these subsidiary camps, providing an orderly centre of overarching governance. The Government Camp was free from mining, and trees were retained for shade at a time when all natural features were subordinated in the pursuit of gold.  There was a Postal and Roads Board, Crown Lands, Petty Sessions, County and Supreme Courts and Mining Courts. Here the Gold Commissioner and military regiments, police, accountants, military surgeon, postmaster, surveyors, magistrates and their servants resided and worked from 1851-1855.  Many ‘Campites’ remained at the site long after the Castlemaine township moved to the Urquhart surveyed grid to the east of Barkers Creek. Approximately 300 officials (plus their households) resided at the Camp in its heyday. Later, when control shifted to a local council, ‘Campites’ were (to their displeasure) included in the rate base.
Canvas, Timber, Brick and Stone
Initially a tent city, the canvas was quickly replaced by timber buildings. Many buildings were brought in by dray, prefabricated in Melbourne at considerable expense. Some of these buildings were subsequently replaced by bricks and mortar. Early church services were held in the open air at the Commissioner’s camp, then in a large tent lined with ‘green baize’ which was shared by different denominations. Some services were held in a timber store. Brick and stone churches replaced wood and canvas. Bishop Perry preached ‘en plein air’ at this camp from its early days and visited on several occasions.  He laid the foundation stone of the Anglican Christ Church on Agitation Hill in 1854, the year after a civilian and miners’ uprising on the hill in opposition to the Gold Commissioner’s rule.
A Post Office was built at the ford, and this primitive creek crossing was soon replaced by Governor Hotham’s bridge (now Fitzgerald Bridge). The show pavilion today sits on Camp Reserve where the Post Office was (Gill watercolour). The street layout slowly evolved, a most striking difference with today being the insertion of Forest St (east to west axis), which bisects the Government Camp. Comparison with the early artists’ impressions - see the S.T Gill watercolour, and today’s maps, show long military barracks spanning the rise where Forest St now crosses Bowden St. 
Barkers Creek, the channel, the floods
Another significant change, with ongoing ramifications, was the course of Barker’s Creek.  The natural course ran through Camp Reserve until it was channelized by the early council in the 1860s to run parallel to the new railway line. The stone channel fails in heavy rain events and the creek breaches its channel, returning to its natural course causing flooding to Camp Reserve, Gingell and Bruce streets. Historical floods have resulted in loss of life and extensive infrastructure damage, particularly to bridges. 
Removal of buildings and materials
In 1863 there was a public sale of buildings from the Camp, some of which had been on the reserve. One of these prefabricated buildings is now in Fryerstown, another is said to form a part of the Drill Hall in Lyttleton St. They were sold for far less than they cost, reflecting fluctuating cost and availability of labour and materials over the course of the decade.
Below - Camp buildings relocated to Fryerstown and the Drill Hall Lyttleton St Castlemaine
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Former Court House
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The Former Court House, 7 Goldsmith Crescent, was built in 1852 as a police office, then converted to house the first sitting of the Supreme Court on the Victorian Goldfields in December 1852.  According to the VHD database it is possibly the oldest building of the Victorian goldfields. The Public Works Department funded the building. Henry Ginn the Colonial Architect of Victoria, signed off on the plans, and those of the powder magazine on Farnsworth St, amongst numerous ‘types’ of early government buildings across Victoria. On Wednesday December 8th1852, Judge Barry ‘accompanied by the Attorney-General and other officials, arrived to open the first Criminal Court held in the district’ He swore in the first two Justices of the Peace. He empanelled a jury then proceeded to preside over 40 court cases in 4 days. Sir Redmond Barry presided at the Castlemaine court for decades. 
The Court House is approached from the rear of the building, and its frontage faces Barkers Creek. This orientation towards the diggings and the Camp is also seen at Camp House and predates the street layout which was superimposed around camp infrastructure later. Prisoners were kept in temporary lockups near the Court House, and then log jails prior to the building of a permanent gaol in 1857-61. Legend has it the prisoners awaiting trial or transport were chained to the prisoner tree or logs in Goldsmith Crescent -this story is contested.
The Court House was purchased in a state of neglect, by the artist Alice Bale who was passionate about the historic Camp precinct and its trees.













Alice Bale (1875-1955) Paintings
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Below - Transportable police lock up in Chewton
[image: Chewton Portable Lock Up | Goldfields Guide]

Camp House 1854: 5 Yandell St, home to Gold Commissioner John Edward Newell Bull.
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Camp House at 5 Yandell St was built in 1854 for Captain Bull and his family. Bull replaced Wright as Gold Commissioner in 1852 when Wright was recalled to Melbourne by La Trobe to be made the Commissioner of all the Victorian goldfields.   Bull was a most active and capable administrator in Castlemaine (and much further afield) from the earliest days of the gold rush until he left Castlemaine in 1899, dying at Goulbourn in 1901. At times Bull administered the goldfields stretching to Avoca in the west, and Bendigo to the north and the fields in between.
Camp House was the hub of the Camp, and newspaper articles mention events with parades of thousands from Camp House to Camp Reserve. The verandah looks out over the Court house and the central camp.  
Commissioner Bull
Of Napoleonic military lineage, Bull started his own military career purchasing a commission in 1826 in England, with a subsequent posting to Ceylon. He went on in 1842, to command a transport ship of convicts to Van Dieman’s Land. After a period of supervizing convict road building through the Blue Mountains in NSW, he then managed the construction of the Newcastle breakwater. Bull’s Sandhurst Military College friend, Commissioner Wright, invited him to Castlemaine to be a commissioner 1852. After the discontinuation of the Gold Commissioner system triggered by Eureka, Bull stayed on as the Gold Warden. He commanded a Volunteer Rifle Brigade – an important institution for national security prior to the formation of an Australian Army. Captain J.E.N Bull held prominent positions on nearly every new public institution board in Castlemaine and was held in high regard by the residents for his commitment to the young municipality. A differing narrative, to that of universal respect, is that Bull’s friendship with the Chinese translator, James Ah Coy, lead to Bull coming under suspicion for fraternizing with a ‘celestial’ and for interfering with an investigation.
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Former Military Quarters 4 Camp St
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This early military quarters on Camp Crescent was listed on the VHR in 2008 as a result of the work of the Castlemaine Historical Society and other volunteers. It is in an unstable condition. This Quarters is rare and original. It has an unusual construction with prefabricated elements, and as its listing outlines, it provides valuable insights into early building on the goldfields. This building should be prioritized for conservation.
Statement of Significance link below
https://vhd.heritagecouncil.vic.gov.au/places/13916
Sheriff Colles House 1 Camp Crescent 1854
[image: 1 Camp Crescent, Castlemaine, Vic 3450]
The Castlemaine Sheriff, Richard Colles, was a friend to Robert O’Hara Burke. He laid the foundation stone for the 1862 granite obelisk memorial at the top of Mostyn St. The Sheriff’s office formed a part of the house. Due to subsequent infill development, only glimpses can be seen from the public domain. Campbells Creek forms the southern and eastern boundaries to the place. The underside of the verandah is shingled. 
The Prisoner Tree (Eucalyptus microcarpa ‘greybox’) Goldsmith Crescent
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Camp Reserve
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Captain Bull argued passionately for the military parade ground to be kept intact for his Volunteer Rifle Brigade to practice on, and for the people of Castlemaine in perpetuity to have a green, open, pleasant place to enjoy, and pursue exercise and recreation. The early council wanted to subdivide and sell off the land, and at one point, miners argued for their right to mine the reserve. In the 1860s it was considered a potential site for a Botanical Gardens. Historically, Camp Reserve has been a financial burden to Councils, with user groups bearing shared costs to this day.
Cultural Uses
Bull had his way, and the gazetted place has, for over 170 years, been home to hundreds of seasonal festivals, fundraisers, celebrations, formal occasions, agricultural, sports events and military tattoos. It has always had a shared use with sports, football and more recently cricket and netball, running events, cycling and even tennis.
In 1855 the men of the Government Camp played a game, which had similarities to modern football, with the town’s men. It is said that the match was an olive branch between town and campsites, following Eureka. From this time, the Camp Reserve has enjoyed a long shared history, with what evolved to become Australian Rules football. There is also a longstanding Annual Castlemaine and District Agricultural Show that has held yearly events at the Camp to the present day, although in the nineteenth century much of the show history was at the Market Place in town, prior to the demolition of two wings. The earliest Agricultural Show was held in Muckleford. Sheepdog trials, clydesdale shows and dog shows have traditionally used the Camp, and more recently the Castlemaine Gift and the Farmers Market. The cultural role of these agricultural, sporting, and social events is valued by the Castlemaine residents. The Camp has remained, in essence, relatively unaltered by the many years of varied community use.
Trees
During the 1860s, the beautification movement influenced the plantings of avenues of English Oaks (Ulmus procera), and cypress stands at Camp Reserve. Botanist Baron Von Mueller, garden curator Philip Doran, the landscape gardener Hugh Linaker and businessman/jeweller Ernest Leviny are associated with planting choices seen in Castlemaine’s early public spaces. The role of Von Mueller has been overstated both here and at the Botanical Gardens - he was an influence rather than a presence. 
The plantings at the Camp were chosen at a time when there was global interest in tree choices for challenging climates, and for their agribusiness potential. There have always been indigenous native trees on the Camp and two significant Eucalyptus camaldulensis (river red gums) remain at the southern entrance. While nobody knows the actual age of these trees, they bear a distinct resemblance to trees in the picture showing Bull and his regiment. They may date back to the Camp, or they may be regrowth from early trees.  As part of an historic landscape these trees hold added significance and contribute to the landscape. They create lines of continuity through from the southern portions of the Government Camp to the northern. Trees and topography, as well as the built form, are protected under this local heritage overlay.

Camp Reserve with Captain John Edward Newell Bull on the horse to the right of the photograph. The Gaol is in the background.
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Marking the formation of the town and the place of the Government Camp is a cairn on the southwest slope. In the southwest corner are early stallion stables of slab formation on a cobbled base. Broadoaks (Burke’s Cottage) at 31 Gingell St overlooks the site. Also known as ‘Broadoaks’ - the Police Inspector’s Residence -was strategically placed for the Inspector to oversee the Camp and its parade ground. Broadoaks was initially built as a hospital but never used as such. Direct sightlines to and from many of the remaining pivotal buildings of the historic precinct are unspoilt in all directions – to Christ Church, the Old Goal, the railway station, Goldsmith Crescent’s Court house, the Prisoner tree, and up to the powder magazine and its keepers cottage.
‘Broadoaks’ (Burke’s Cottage or the Police Inspector’s Residence) 31 Gingell St is intrinsically linked to the Camp Reserve. Until recently there were uninterrupted views through to the Camp. Now there is limited view due to a hedge and large unsightly poly plastic tanks installed by the user groups.
[image: Victorian Heritage Database]


Bus Trip
Gaulton St presents an historic streetscape. At 24 Gaulton St is Huntingdon, the former Star Brewery and once home to the Castlemaine artist Alice Bale (and owner of the Former Court House). 
Huntingdon 24 Gaulton St
[image: 24 Gaulton Street, Castlemaine, Vic 3450 - Property Details]
At the junction of Gaulton and Yandell streets is an open natural area close to the confluence of the three creeks.  This is home to the pre-settlement eucalyptus camaldulensis tree known as ‘Mr Howe’s Tree’ or the Survey Tree. It was marked with an X in the 1840s by Howe. (Listed on the significant tree register)
Mr Howe’s Survey Tree
[image: ]
‘Sheriff’s Bridge’ or ‘Gaulton St Bridge’ is an early bridge whose impressive under structure and timbers are original, but like many local bridges, its top deck has suffered damage and replacement post major flooding events. Sherriff’s Bridge is at risk of replacement by Mt Alexander Shire Council as part of an infrastructure bridge program. It does not have a VHR listing.  It is the second oldest continuous timber bridge in Victoria. With every timber bridge lost to flood or fire, this remaining bridge becomes more significant.

Ah Coy’s (‘Acoy’) Cottage – The Chinese Translator’s House 5 Bowden St 1860s
[image: RESIDENCE SOHE 2008]
Statement of Significance (extract from Heritage Victoria Database)
No.5 Bowden Street was built in the 1860s for James Ah Coy, a Chinese interpreter. Ah Coy achieved a certain amount of notoriety in 1869 when, following a petition by members of the Chinese community, an enquiry was held into his activities in collecting mining licence fees.
The architect and builder of this small regency house are not known but it is typical of a number of late regency dwellings erected in Castlemaine in the 1860's - for example, 2 Burnett Road and 167 Mostyn Street.
Constructed of brick with corrugated iron roofing, the facade and sides are rendered and unpainted and there is a simple parapet on three sides. The facade is symmetrically composed about a central doorway with a concave verandah across the front on timber posts.
It has important connections with the Chinese mining community of Castlemaine. This building is important in illustrating the story of the limited assimilation of the Chinese into Victorian goldfield communities.
An article in PROV (Public Records Office of Victoria) ‘Goldfields Settler or Frontier Rogue’ by Keir Reeves, examines the complex history of James Ah Coy’s role between the Chinese community and the anglo government. While Ah Coy likely received ‘li money’ from gambling houses, this was, in itself, probably a tacitly accepted practice. It is likely that Ah Coy was resented by the Chinese community for his role in collecting racist poll taxes imposed on all Chinese and was also pursued by a police inspector known for his anti-Chinese sentiment. The case of Ah Coy brings to prominence a Castlemaine Chinese. The significance of the Chinese on the Mt Alexander goldfields remains overlooked.
Farnsworth St Cluster 
Farnsworth St contains a cluster of buildings that are on the western boundaries of the local heritage Overlay. 
The Powder Magazine, Powder Magazine Keepers Cottage and ‘Isca’ now known as ‘Castle House’
There are several powder magazines of this period in Victoria, Castlemaine’s ‘Old Powder Magazine’ (along with Jack’s Magazine Maribrynong) was designed by William Wardell of St Patrick’s Cathedral fame. These buildings were designed so that any unintentional explosion of stored explosives would travel vertically rather than horizontally. They were always placed to the edge of the government precinct for obvious reasons.
Below - Powder Magazine, Farnsworth St
[image: Image result for powder magazine farnsworth]
Whitley’s Cottage (the Powder Magazine’s Keeper’s Cottage 1860s) at 47 Farnsworth St is significant for its substantial and expensive stone build of an early government house. Designed by the Public Works Dept this building has military significance and multiple heritage listings.
Below – The Powder Magazine’s Keeper’s Cottage
[image: B1976  Powder Magazine Keeper's Cottage]
‘Isca’, recently known as ‘Castle House’ at 37 Farnsworth St 1863 is a significant private house designed by William Downes. It is notable for its jewel box, highly decorative form, with Flemish gables. William Downes designed the neo-classical Market building, which was saved from demolition as part of a campaign by the National Trust. This building is now lauded as one of Victoria’s finest colonial buildings. Downes only designed three houses, they are all in Castlemaine, and he called them all ‘Isca’, a reference to his early tramping grounds of Exeter and its cathedral.‘Isca’ is the Celtic origin for the word Exeter..
Below ‘Isca’ (Castle House) 37 Farnsworth St architect William Downes 
[image: RESIDENCE SOHE 2008]
Below – Marketplace Building, Mostyn St, architect Wiliam Downes
[image: CASTLEMAINE MARKET SOHE 2008]
Below - The Former Gaol Bowden St
[image: ]
(Extract the Victorian Heritage Database VHD)
HM Prison, Castlemaine was constructed of local sandstone between 1857 and 1861. It represents an important phase in the development of prison design associated with the completion of the Model Prison at Pentonville in 1842. The influence of the Pentonville plan is evident in the radial wings, central hall and exercise yard (industries building) of Castlemaine Gaol. Beechworth, Bendigo and Castlemaine were the most accurate representations in Victoria of Jebb's panopticon design.
 The Gaol was a source of labour for the early Councils. Prisoners were set to public works. These included building the stone channels for redirected creeks, bridges, road building and bridge building. Prisoners were used on Camp Reserve when earthworks were required.
Below - Railway Station
[image: Castlemaine Railway Station circa 1862 | Victoria australia, Melbourne  victoria, Melbourne]
Below Truss Bridge and Signal Box
[image: CONCRETE TRUSS FOOTBRIDGE SOHE 2008][image: Victorian Heritage Database]

Below - Christ Church Mostyn St
[image: ]
Sitting on top of ‘Agitation Hill’ Christ Church’s foundation stone was laid by Bishop Perry in 1854, and the church was consecrated in 1858. The sandstone was imported from South Australia. Inside the church hang the hand stitched military ‘colours’ from the regiments of the Gold Commissioner’s Camp. The site was originally higher and was ‘cut down’. From this site the townspeople and miner groups rebelled against the Camp below in 1852. 
















1852 Map of Castlemaine
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BOTANICAL GARDENS
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